FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/8/2022 1:36 PM

No. ____101269-1

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/8/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 55544-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff / Respondent,

٧.

MICHAEL S. CHARLTON,

Defendant / Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION TWO,
AND
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Petitioner

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 1037 Northeast 65th Street,# 176 Seattle, Washington 98115 (206) 782-3353No. 10-11598

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Michael Charlton, Petitioner, was the appellant in the Court of Appeals, on direct review of criminal convictions. Mr. Charlton asks the Court to grant review of a portion of the published decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals, State v. Charlton, __ Wn. App.2d ____, 515 P.3d ____ (2022), (2022 WL 3208773), issued August 9, 2022. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where the government fails to provide counsel at a "critical stage" of criminal proceedings, both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have deemed that violation of the Sixth Amendment and Article 1, § 22 rights to counsel so egregious that it is "structural" constitutional error, requiring automatic reversal.

In its published opinion, the Court of Appeals, Division Two, first held that a preliminary appearance at which a financial condition of release ("bail") is set may be a "critical stage of the criminal proceedings" against the accused. However, the Court then did not apply the standard for such structural constitutional error, instead using a version of "constitutional harmless error" in which the defendant has the burden of showing that the deprivation of counsel caused trial prejudice.

Should this Court grant review under RAP
 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(3), because Division Two's
 decision is inconsistent with settled precedent
 that deprivation of counsel is "structural"
 constitutional error, compelling reversal?

- 2. If deprivation of counsel at the hearing is not "structural" error, did Division Two err in failing to apply the proper standards of "constitutional harmless error" by placing the burden with the accused and focusing only on trial prejudice?
- 3. Should review also be granted because the questions presented all involve a significant impact on the accused across our state when the government seeks to limit their liberties based solely on an unproven accusation pretrial and further, have a disproportionate impact on people in poverty?
- 4. Should this case be consolidated upon review with the pending petition in a recent published case from Division One which also presents the questions of whether deprivation of counsel at the bail setting hearing is "structural error," and, also in the alternative, which "constitutional harmless error" standard is proper, State v. Heng, ___ Wn. App.2d ___, 512 P.3d 942 (2022 WL 2661605)?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. *Overview of charges*

Michael S. Charlton, Petitioner, was convicted of third-degree rape of a child (RCW 9A.44.079) and third-degree child molestation (RCW 9A.44.089), but acquitted of indecent liberties (RCW 9A.44.100(1)(b)). CP 6-7, 16, 69-71. The charges were brought based on allegations made by Mr. Charlton's 15-year old stepdaughter about an assailant in her room one night. CP 6-7, 16, 69-71. Further discussion of the

facts regarding the charges is contained in Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 4-10.

2. Deprivation of counsel pretrial

Mr. Charlton was arrested without a warrant on

December 30, 2019. RP 5-6. The next day, he was brought
before the Honorable Judge David Edwards in Grays Harbor
County superior court. RP 6. The prosecution wanted to keep
Mr. Charlton in custody while the state's attorney decided
what charges to file. RP 5-7. Without any discussion of
counsel or the need to appoint an attorney for Mr. Charlton,
the prosecutor asked for - and the judge imposed - a \$25,000
financial condition of release or "bail." RP 5-6.

After his arrest, Mr. Charlton had filled out a *pro se* "application for pretrial release." CP 8-9. There was no discussion of that document, or about Mr. Charlton's resources, local ties, or any other information relevant to pretrial release. RP 6-7. Mr. Charlton had no criminal history whatsoever; this was also not discussed. *See* RP 15; RP 5-7.

When Mr. Charlton tried to address the court he was talked over. RP 7. Neither the judge nor the prosecutor ever later inquired. RP 7.

On January 3, 2020, Mr. Charlton was brought to court again, this time back in front of the Honorable Judge David Mistachkin. RP 8. Charges had been filed. RP 9; CP 8-9. The judge read the charging document, verified information such as Mr. Charlton's name and date of birth, and told Mr. Charlton anything he said could be used against him later. RP 9-10. The judge then appointed a specific named attorney to represent Mr. Charlton and said the attorney - who was not present - would be "notified[.]" RP 12.

At that point, bail was again discussed and the prosecutor declared that the \$25,000 "seems to be doing the trick," apparently referring to Mr. Charlton's inability to meet that condition as evidenced by him still being in custody. RP 15-16. Judge Mistachkin then declared that he would have personally set the "bail" amount *higher* based on the nature of the charges alone. RP 16. The judge acquiesced with the \$25,000 amount already set, he said, because of Mr. Charlton's lack of criminal history and ties to the community. RP 16. But the judge amended the order, saying, "[i]t's cash, no bond." RP 16.

On January 6, Mr. Charlton was again brought to court,

this time before Judge Edwards. RP 22. Appointed counsel was not present and still had not met with his client. RP 22. Arraignment was continued. RP 22.

On January 13, counsel finally appeared in court, asked for reconsideration of bail and ultimately secured Mr.

Charlton's release on personal recognizance. RP 24-27.

On appeal, Mr. Charlton argued that he was deprived of his Sixth Amendment and Article 1, § 22 rights to counsel at the first two hearings where bail was set, which were each a "critical stage" of the criminal proceedings against him, and that this deprivation was structural constitutional error, compelling reversal. BOA at 10-34.

In its published decision, Division Two agreed that the constitutional right to counsel attached at both hearings, but held that those rights were only violated at the second, post-charging hearing. App. A at 1, 7-8. The Court held that the post-charging hearing was a "critical stage" of the criminal proceedings, following other jurisdictions which have so found. App. A at 13-15, citing, Booth v. Galveston County, 352 F. Supp. 3d 718, 738-39 (S.D. Tex. 2019); State v. Fann, 239 N.J. Super. 507, 519-20, 571 A.2d 1023 (1990).

Nevertheless, the Court affirmed. Even though it found that Mr. Charlton was deprived of counsel at the second hearing and even though it found that the second hearing was a "critical stage" of the criminal proceedings against Mr.

Charlton, Division Two did not apply the standard used where there is a denial of counsel at such a stage. App. A at 15.

Instead, confusingly, the Court then declared the second hearing was *not* a "critical stage," really, after which Division Two applied a version of "constitutional harmless error" requiring some proof by Mr. Charlton that the error in depriving him completely of counsel at the pretrial bail hearing had somehow caused appreciable "effect on the remainder of the case." App. A at 17.

This Petition timely follows.

D. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW AND HOLD THAT GOVERNMENTAL DEPRIVATION OF COUNSEL AT THE PRETRIAL "BAIL" HEARING IS STRUCTURAL CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR COMPELLING REVERSAL. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO ENSURE THAT OUR COURTS APPLY A MEANINGFUL "CONSTITUTIONAL HARMLESS ERROR" STANDARD

Both the State and federal constitutions guarantee the

right to the assistance of counsel at all "critical stages" of a criminal prosecution. *See, State v. Heddrick,* 166 Wn.2d 898, 909, 215 P.3d 201 (2009); *Coleman v. Alabama*, 399 U.S. 1, 90 S. Ct. 1999, 26 L. Ed. 2d 387 (1970); Sixth Amend.¹; 14th Amend.; Art. 1, § 22.

Requiring the government to provide counsel at such stages is not "mere formalism;" rather it is a recognition that the State has committed itself to prosecute and the accused is now faced with the government's awesome prosecutorial power. *Rothgery v. Gillespie County, Tex.*, 554 U.S. 191, 198, 128 S. Ct. 2578, 171 L.Ed. 2d 366 (2008). It is at that point that the accused is constitutionally entitled to the assistance of counsel. *See id.*; *Heddrick*, 166 Wn.2d at 910.

If the accused is deprived of that right, that constitutional error is considered so egregious that it is "structural." *Heddrick*, 166 Wn.2d at 910; see, Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 696 n. 3, 122 S. Ct. 1843, 152 L. Ed. 2d 914 (2002). Where constitutional error is "structural," that error defies review by "harmless error' standards." *Neder v. United*

¹The Sixth Amendment applies to the states through the 14th Amendment "incorporation" clause. *See State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 283, 225 P.3d 995 (2010).

States, 527 U.S. 1, 7, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999), quoting, Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 309, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1991).

Structural constitutional errors are considered "so intrinsically harmful as to require automatic reversal" "without regard to their effect on the outcome," because of how suc errors impact substantial rights. *Neder*, 527 U.S. at 7. With such errors, the circumstances "are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified." *U.S. v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 658, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed.2d 657 (1984). These are distinguished from even constitutional trial errors like ineffective assistance, which is analyzed by looking at whether prejudice has been proved. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

The single "[m]ost obvious" of the structural constitutional errors "is the complete denial of counsel" at a critical stage of criminal proceedings. *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 659, 659 n. 25; see, Neder, 527 U.S. at 8.; Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853, 95 S. Ct. 2550, 45 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1975).

In this case, Division Two properly found that the

second hearing at which bail was set was a "critical stage" of the criminal proceedings against Mr. Charlton and that the government deprived Mr. Charlton of his constitutional rights to counsel at that hearing. App. A at 7-15. But Division Two then did not apply the automatic reversal mandated by cases such as *Neder, Cronic,* and *Heddrick*. App. A at 15-16. This Court should grant review of the published decision which fails to follow settled standards and confuses the future application and protection of the right to counsel for bail setting pretrial.

Further, review is important and should be granted because of the impact the decision below has and will have on the accused across the state, especially those in poverty. These are issues this Court has been focused on trying to address. The Court amended the pretrial release rule, CrR 3.2, in an effort to address the unfairness of means-based discrimination in pretrial release. *See*, *e.g.*, *In the Matter of the Adoption of the Amendments to CrR 3.2, CrR 3.2.1, CrRLJ 3.2 and CrRLJ 3.2.1*, Order No. 25700-A-721 (WSR 02-01-025) (Dec. 6, 2001).² It has responded to research showing that "the

²Available at http://apps.leg.wa.gov/documents/laws/wsr/2002/02/02-01-025.htm

criteria established by court rule for pretrial release may discriminate against persons who are economically disadvantaged." *Id.*; *see*, George Bridges, *A Study on Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Superior Court Bail and Pre-Trial Detention Practices in Washington*, Washington State Minority and Justice Commission (Oct. 1997).³

Before trial, due process cloaks the accused with the presumption of innocence. *See State v. ex rel Wallen v. Judges Noe, Towne, Johnson*, 78 Wn.2d 484, 487, 475 P.2d 787 (1970); *Coffin v. United States*, 156 U.S. 432, 452, 15 S. Ct. 392, 39 L. Ed. 481 (1895). As a result, except for capital and certain murder cases, the State may not keep someone in custody pretrial based solely on unproven claims. *See Hudson v. Parker*, 156 U.S. 277, 285, 15 S. Ct. 450, 39 L. Ed. 424 (1895). Indeed, pretrial release and liberty is supposed to be "the norm," with detention pretrial "carefully limited." *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 742, 107 S. Ct. 2095, 96 L. Ed. 2d 697 (1987).

It is recognized that pretrial detention and bail involves

³Available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/1997_ResearchStudy.pdf

hardships, hampering the accused in the preparation of their cases, leading to loss of jobs and, of course, unneeded incarceration. *State v. Perrett*, 86 Wn. App. 312, 318, 936 P.2d 426, *review denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1019 (1997).

This Court has recognized that "the issue of bail is one which will escape review" because of its very nature, and that "the proper form of bail is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest, overcoming any claim of mootness." Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wn.2d 277, 286-87, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994); State v. Barton, 181 Wn.2d 148, 152, 331 P.3d 50 (2014).

Indeed, the Court has recently renewed its concerns about not only discrimination against those without resources pretrial but also about how our superior court's rulings on pretrial release are exacerbating racism and bias within our criminal justice systems. See Pretrial Reform Task Force: Final Recommendations Report (Feb. 2019), at 29.4 The failure to provide counsel pretrial here implicate this Court's ongoing

⁴Available at https://www.courts.wa.gov/subsite/mjc/PretrialReformTaskForceReport.pdf

commitment to fairness and equity for the accused. Here, the government with all its power choose not to provide counsel before setting financial and other requirements for the accused to gain his very physical liberty pretrial.

In addition, there is strong evidence that pretrial detention correlates to increased likelihood of conviction and higher sentences after trial. *See* Andrew D. Leipold, *How the Pretrial Process Contributes to Wrongful Convictions*, 42 AM.

CRIM. L. REV. 1123, 1165 (2005); Christopher T. Lowenkamp et. al, *Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing Outcomes*, Arnold Foundation (Nov. 2013). There can be no question that a person cloaked with the presumption of innocence suffers significant negative impact on their lives - and their case - depending on the outcome of a determination of "bail."

Notably, our state provides a broad rule-based right to counsel, reflecting the state's recognition of the importance of such counsel's assistance for the accused pretrial. *See* CrR 3.2.1.

⁵Available at https://csgjusticecenter.org/courts/publications/investigating-the-impact-of-pretrial-detention-on-sentencing-outcomes/

Review should also be granted in the alternative to declare the proper standard of "constitutional harmless error" which should apply. After first holding that the second hearing was a critical stage, then that it was not, Division Two then held that the failure to provide constitutionally mandated counsel was essentially "harmless" "as long as the defendant is not prejudiced in the defense of the charges against them." App. A at 9-10.

This Court has set forth the standard for constitutional "harmless error." See State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). That standard presumes prejudice and requires reversal unless the state meets the heavy burden of proving, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. In Guloy, the error was trial error and the "harmlessness" was proven by showing that every reasonable trier of fact would necessarily still have convicted even absent the error, considering all the "untainted" evidence. Id. That standard does not appear adequate for deprivation of counsel at a critical stage pretrial, because, again, it focuses on trial impact alone.

But that focus and the cases upon which Division Two relied reflect an incorrect and outdated view of the relevant rights. There is no question that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel used to be interpreted as providing for those rights only in relation to a "fair trial." *See, e.g., Satterwhite v. Texas,* 486 U.S. 249, 108 S. Ct. 1792, 100 L. Ed. 2d 284 (1988); *State v. Jackson,* 66 Wn.2d 24, 400 P.2d 774 (1965). That focus, however, has since been rejected, and there has been recognition that counsel's impact pretrial must be considered not only in light of the later trial but in light of the specific circumstances and potential harm. *See, e.g., Lafler v. Cooper,* 566 U.S. 156, 164-65, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 182 L. Ed.2d 398 (2012).

The difficulty in quantifying "harm" despite a clear violation of fundamental constitutional principles is, of course, a hallmark of structural errors. See e.g., United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 144-45, 128 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006). Such errors are not errors in admission of evidence or anything similar but instead involve the protections of the very system and its structural integrity. See id. That is why the focus with such errors in not whether the later trial was "fair," but rather that the defendant was

entitled to a particular guarantee of fairness and that guarantee was deprived. *Id.* Thus, in *Gonzalez-Lopez*, reversal was required for the deprivation of the right to counsel of choice, regardless of proof of specific trial prejudice. *Id.* The accused was entitled to the right to counsel of choice and that right was completely denied. *Id.*

Here, the failure to provide counsel at the second pretrial hearing deprived Mr. Charlton of the guarantee of the right to have counsel and thus actual adversarial proceedings when he faced the awesome resources of the state seeking to limit his liberties pretrial. Mr. Charlton submits that this deprivation was structural constitutional error. Even if it was not, this Court should grant review to address the proper standards for constitutional "harmless error" which keeps the burden of proof on the state and which reflects more than just the limited trial-focused view of the state and federal rights to counsel used by Division Two here.

Finally, the Court should consolidate this case with that of *Heng* if it grants review in both. *Heng*, a recent published decision from Division One, held contrary to the decision here that a pretrial hearing where financial conditions of release are

set is *not* a critical stage of the proceedings. *See Heng, supra*. In *Heng*, like here, this Court is presented with the same questions about whether the deprivation of counsel at the pretrial bail hearing is structural constitutional error and if not, what version of constitutional harmless error review should be applied to ensure the rights involved are honored.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the Court should grant review.