FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/13/2023 1:02 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101269-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. MICHAEL CHARLTON, Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS, JUDGE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NORMA J. TILLOTSON **Prosecuting Attorney** for Grays Harbor County

BY: 6

WILLIAM A. LERAAS **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

WSBA # 15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

TABLES

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

Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 U.S. 52, 82 S. Ct. 157, 7 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1961) addressed a preliminary hearing where evidence was presented and defenses were waived if not

asserted. The Court of Appeals in *Sanchez, supra*, rightly rejected the application of *Hamilton*:

Unlike in *Hamilton*, Sanchez stood no risk of waiving any rights or foregoing any defenses at his arraignment. Nor did he make admissions of guilt like the defendant in *White*.

Thus, unlike in *Hamilton*, Sanchez makes no showing that any right or defense he possessed prearraignment was forfeited or went unpreserved by his attorney's absence at arraignment. We conclude that any Sixth Amendment or rule-based deprivation/absence of counsel at Sanchez's arraignment did not contaminate the entire trial proceeding so as to bring this case within the purview of *Hamilton*, *White*, or other previously noted cases of presumed prejudice.

Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. at 702.

Coleman v. Alabama, 399 U.S. 1, 90 S. Ct. 1999, 26 L. Ed. 2d 387 (1970) similarly involved a preliminary hearing where evidence was presented to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to present to a grand jury. The court held that in that case the preliminary hearing was a "critical stage"

where an attorney could have, perhaps, persuaded the judge not to bind the defendant over to the grand jury and thus protect the accused from "an erroneous or improper prosecution" or taken advantage of the presentation of evidence in other ways to benefit the defendant. Coleman, 399 U.S. at 9. Coleman does not hold that once the right to an attorney attaches, structural error occurs any time an attorney is absent; rather, it holds that the attorney's absence must occur at a critical stage in the proceedings in order for there to be structural error, "where counsel's absence might derogate from the accused's right to a fair trial." Coleman, 399 U.S. at 7 (quoting United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 226, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967)). Unlike in *Coleman*, no evidentiary hearing was held in Mr. Charlton's case.

In *Rothgery v. Gillespie County, Tex.*, 554 U.S. 191, 128 S. Ct. 2578, 171 L. Ed. 2d 366 (2008) Mr. Rothgery was erroneously arrested for being a felon in possession of a

was determined and bail was set. No attorney was appointed. Mr. Rothgery later posted bail; following release he made several requests for court appointed counsel which went unheeded. Approximately six months later he was indicted on the same charge, rearrested and jailed; an attorney was then appointed who was able to get the indictment dismissed. Mr. Rothgery brought a 42 U.S.C. sec. 1983 action alleging that, had an attorney been appointed within a reasonable time after he had initially appeared in court, he would not have been indicted, rearrested, or jailed.

The U.S. District Court granted the county's motion for summary judgment and the Fifth Circuit affirmed. The Supreme Court reversed, holding that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel "attaches" when he appears before a magistrate, learns of the charges and his liberty is restricted. Importantly,

the Court did not abandon the "critical stage" analysis, and held as follows:

Our holding is narrow. We do not decide whether the 6-month delay in appointment of counsel resulted in prejudice to Rothgery's Sixth Amendment rights, and have no occasion to consider what standards should apply in deciding this. We merely reaffirm what we have held before and what an overwhelming majority of American jurisdictions understand in practice: a criminal defendant's initial appearance before a judicial officer, where he learns the charge against him and his liberty is subject to restriction, marks the start of adversary judicial proceedings that trigger attachment of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

Rothgery, 554 U.S. at 213 (emphasis added).

The question of when the right to counsel attaches "is distinct from the question whether the [proceeding] itself is a critical stage requiring the presence of counsel." *Rothgery*, 554 U.S. at 212 (quoting *Michigan v. Jackson*, 475 U.S. 625, 629 n.3, 106 S. Ct. 1404, 89 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1986), *overruled on other grounds, Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778, 129 S. Ct. 2079, 173 L. Ed. 2d 631 (2009)). In his concurrence, Justice

Alito wrote to reaffirm that "the term 'attachment' signifies nothing more than the beginning of the defendant's prosecution. It does not mark the beginning of a substantive entitlement to the assistance of counsel." *Id.* at 213.

Rothgery does not hold that just because the right to an attorney "attaches", the absence of an attorney at future court hearings, regardless of the nature of the hearing, results in structural error and presumed prejudice.

Washington law is in accord with *Rothgery* as to when the right to counsel "attaches":

Washington court rules confer on a defendant an early right to counsel. CrR 3.1(b)(1) (right to counsel accrues as soon as feasible after defendant is taken into custody, appears before committing magistrate, or is formally charged, whichever occurs earliest).

Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. at 698.

The court in *Sanchez* noted several other U.S. Supreme Court cases as "examples of presumed prejudice when counsel

was absent or prevented from assisting the defendant *at a critical stage*" consistent with Washington law:

Penson v. Ohio, 488 U.S. 75, 88-89, 109 S. Ct. 346, 102 L. Ed. 2d 300 (1988) (complete denial of counsel on appeal); Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 98 S. Ct. 1173, 55 L. Ed. 2d 426 (1978) (conflict of interest in representation throughout entire proceeding); Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, 96 S. Ct. 1330, 47 L. Ed. 2d 592 (1976) (denial of access to counsel during overnight recess); Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201, 84 S. Ct. 1199, 12 L. Ed. 2d 246 (1964) (accused confronted by prosecuting authorities who obtained incriminating statements by ruse and in the absence of defense counsel); Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963) (total deprivation of counsel throughout entire proceeding);

Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. at 701, fn. 1.

The Court of Appeals decision below is also in conflict with *State v. Heng*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 717, 512 P.3d 942 (2022), also before this Court on a petition for review, No. 101159-8. Mr. Heng was charged with murder in the first degree and arson in the first degree and made his first appearance in court on January 20, 2017. Heng confirmed his name and date of birth

and requested court appointed counsel. The court appointed counsel; however, counsel was not present. The trial judge told Heng that "[w]e put word out to [defense counsel] trying to get him here this morning, but just not enough time. So, he's not here right now. But he'll be – he's already been notified. So he'll be getting in touch with you very shortly." *Heng* at 724. The court then set bail at two million dollars, telling Heng that the issue of bail could be reviewed. *Id.* At arraignment on February 1, 2017, defense counsel told the court, as to bail, that "[a]t some point in the future I may address it, but I'm not gonna [sic] address it now." *Id.* at 724-25. Heng remained in custody pending trial and was convicted as charged.

On appeal, Heng argued that his preliminary appearance was a critical stage of the trial, that the trial court denied him his constitutional right to counsel which was a structural error requiring automatic reversal. *Id.* at 739. The Court of Appeals, Division One, disagreed:

Here, Heng's preliminary appearance was limited in scope: Heng confirmed his name and date of birth, and the court appointed counsel and set bail, indicating that it would be willing to revisit the issue later. Heng did not forfeit any rights or defenses that would substantially affect the outcome of his trial. Although the trial court did set bail, it also indicated it would be willing to revisit the issue later, and Heng could have asked the court to do so at any time. See CrR 3.2(j)(1) ("At any time after the preliminary appearance, an accused who is being detained due to failure to post bail may move for reconsideration of bail."). Thus, Heng's counsel's absence did not cause Heng to waive any right related to bail, nor did counsel's absence "by [its] very nature cast so much doubt on the fairness of the trial process that, as a matter of law, [it] can [not] be considered harmless." See Satterwhite, 486 U.S. at 256, 108 S. Ct. 1792. For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that Heng's preliminary appearance was not a critical stage of trial such that counsel's absence therefrom requires automatic reversal. Cf. In re Pers. Restraint of Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. 686, 702, 391 P.3d 517 (2017) (arraignment not a critical stage of trial where petitioner made no showing "that any right or defense he possessed prearraignment was forfeited or went unpreserved by his attorney's absence at arraignment.").

Heng at 740.

The court in *Heng* also rejected Appellant's reliance on *Hamilton, Coleman* and *Rothgery, supra*, in arguing that his appearance was a "critical stage" because the trial court set bail, for much the same reasons as set forth herein, *supra*.

Mr. Charlton's second appearance in Grays Harbor County Superior Court was not a critical stage of the proceeding and the Court of Appeals was incorrect to hold otherwise. No Washington case holds that the imposition of bail converts a hearing into a critical stage of the proceedings. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' observation that "[u]nless modified later, the bail the trial court set would remain until trial" and "unless Charlton could post bail, he would remain in jail until the time of trial," *Charlton* at 165, was speculative and irrelevant. Mr. Charlton posted bail. Appellate courts look to whether the alleged error contaminated the entire proceeding, not whether it could have. The absence of appointed counsel was not structural error resulting in presumed prejudice.

Nothing that occurred at those proceedings affected "the framework within which the trial proceed[ed]", *In re Detention of Reyes*,184 Wn.2d 340, 345, 358 P.3d 394 (2015) (closing of courtroom not structural error in commitment proceeding), which rendered Mr. Charlton's trial 'fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 155-56, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) (narrowly tailored closure of voir dire not structural error).

The decision below is contrary to Washington case law.

This Court should accept review of this issue.

2. Even assuming, arguendo, that Petitioner's second court appearance was a critical stage of the proceeding, and it was an error of constitutional magnitude for the court to set bail in the absence of counsel, should this Court accept review when the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and the Court of Appeals applied the correct harmless error analysis; if this Court does accept review, should the Court of Appeals be affirmed on this issue?

"A constitutional error does not require reversal where it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Heng* at 742 (citing *State*

v. Vasquez, 200 Wn. App. 220, 225, 402 P.3d 276 (2017)).

"[M]ost constitutional errors can be harmless," *Arizona v*.

Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 306, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1991); structural errors subject to automatic reversal are found in only a "limited class of cases." *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 468, 117 S. Ct. 1544, 137 L. Ed. 2d 718 (1997).

Structural error is error which "'affect[s] the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself.'" *Reyes*, 184 Wn.2d at 345, (quoting *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 310). An error is structural when it "necessarily renders a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." *Momah*, 167 Wn.2d at 155-56; *see also State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 13-14, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012) (with structural error "'a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence, and no criminal

punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair' "(citing *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 310, quoting *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577-78, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460 (1986)).

If structural error is found, prejudice is presumed and the case is remanded for a new trial. See In re Pers. Restraint of *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 814, 100 P.3d 291 (2004) (remedy for counsel's failure to raise violation of defendant's right to a public trial on appeal is remand for new trial). When an error is not structural, appellate courts apply harmless error analysis to determine whether reversal is appropriate. State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (2013). When an error involves a constitutional right, the State must show it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* That is, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the violation did not prejudice the defendant. State v. Sherman, 59 Wn.App. 763, 768, 801 p.2d 274 (1990).

This is in accord with U.S. Supreme Court jurisprudence:

United States Supreme Court jurisprudence establishes that constitutional harmless error analysis applies to the denial of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel at all stages of criminal proceedings, except for those where "the deprivation of the right to counsel affected – and contaminated – the entire proceeding."

Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. at 699-700, quoting Satterwhite, 486 U.S. at 257. The court in Satterwhite (decided subsequent to Chronic) refused to adopt an automatic rule of reversal for violations of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, noting that structural error only occurs when the deprivation of the right to counsel affects, and contaminates, the entire criminal proceeding. 486 U.S. at 257.

Petitioner argues that the state and federal focus on a "fair trial" when it comes to structural versus harmless error has been "rejected," citing *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012) and *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 128 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006). Petition for review, p. 14. Those cases are

inapplicable to the case at hand. *Lafler* addressed the right to effective assistance of counsel in plea negotiations. *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at166. And *Gonzalez-Lopez* dealt with a trial court's erroneous deprivation of the right to *choice* of counsel. *Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. at 150-52. Neither case "rejected" well settled case law on structural versus harmless error.

Under constitutional harmless error analysis, there was no prejudice to the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt.

Petitioner was only in custody for 14 days; thereafter he remained free on his personal recognizance pending trial. His brief detention as the result of bail being set in the absence of counsel did not contaminate the entire proceeding or affect the verdict.

The holding of the Court of Appeals on this issue was correct. None of the considerations in RAP 13.4(b) have been met. If this Court accepts review, the Court of Appeals should be affirmed on this issue.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals analysis and decision that Mr.

Charlton's second appearance where bail was set in the absence of counsel conflicts with both decisions of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. It involves a significant question of constitutional law under both the state and federal constitution, the right to counsel, and involves an issue of substantial public interest which should be decided by this Court.

On the other hand, the court's harmless error analysis below is correct.

Mr. Charlton was in custody for fourteen days prior to his release, from December 30, 2019, to January 13, 2020. At his second appearance on January 3, 2020, bail was set and an attorney, Michael Nagle, was appointed to represent him, but was not present. At the arraignment on January 13, 2020, Mr.

Nagle appeared and entered a not guilty plea on Mr. Charlton's behalf and secured his release.

The January 3, 2020, hearing was not a "critical stage" of the proceedings and the Court of Appeals decision below is wrong. No witnesses testified, nor was any evidence presented. No defenses or privileges were waived and/or lost nor was the outcome of the case substantially affected, *Agtuca*, 12 Wn. App. at 403-04, so as to cast doubt on the very fairness of the trial process. Satterwhite, 486 U.S. at 256. Mr. Charlton did not "lose important rights that might affect the outcome of his case." Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. at 702. Nothing occurred that affected confidence in the trial or its outcome. That being the case, there was no structural error (it is the State's position that there was no error at all) and thus prejudice is not presumed; constitutional harmless error analysis applies.

Furthermore, no Washington case holds that the setting of bail in and of itself converts a hearing into a critical stage of

the proceeding. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' observation that "[u]nless modified later, the bail the trial court set would remain until trial" and "unless Charlton could post bail, he would remain in jail until the time of trial," *Charlton* at 165, was speculative and irrelevant. Mr. Charlton posted bail. Appellate courts look to whether the alleged error *actually* contaminated the entire proceeding, not whether it *could* have.

Washington and federal law are consistent with each other. Both look to whether the hearing or event in question was a critical stage of the proceeding such that the error contaminating the entire proceeding resulting in structural error and presumed prejudice and, if not, both engage in harmless error analysis.

There is nothing in the record, which indicates that the Appellant suffered any prejudice resulting from his appearing in court without his attorney that affected the pretrial and trial process or the verdict; his second appearance was not a critical

stage of the proceeding. Beyond a reasonable doubt the error, if any, was harmless.

This court should accept review of the Court of Appeals holding that Mr. Charlton's second appearance in court was a critical stage of the proceedings and reverse. The holding in *Heng* is correct. If this Court accepts review of the court's harmless error analysis, it should affirm the Court of Appeals.

This document contains 4981 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.